# Serum Biomarkers for Evaluating Portal Hypertension

7

# Saad Elias, Barhoum Masad, and Assy Nimer

#### **Contents**

Key Facts of Portal Hypertension	154
Introduction	156
Markers Related to Liver Function	157
Markers Related to Complications of Portal Hypertension	158
Markers Related to the Pathogenesis of Portal Hypertension	159
Inflammatory Biomarkers	161
Metabolic Parameters	162
Potential Applications of Serum Biomarkers of Portal Hypertension to Prognosis, Other	
Diseases or Conditions	
Summary	163
References	163

#### Abstract

Cirrhosis represents the final stage for wide variety of chronic liver diseases, regardless of its etiology, and the development of portal hypertension is responsible for the pathogenesis of most frequent and fatal complications of cirrhosis. It is of most importance to evaluate patients newly diagnosed with cirrhosis for the presence of clinically significant portal hypertension and associated complications, which could expose the patient to fatal conditions such as variceal bleeding. The most accurate method for evaluating the presence and severity of portal hypertension is the measurement of the hepatic venous pressure gradient, which

S. Elias  $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$ . Nimer  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Department of Internal Medicine A, Galilee Medical Center, Nahariya, Israel

Bar Ilan University, Safed, Israel

e-mail: eliass@gmc.gov.il; nimera@gmc.gov.il

B. Masad

Bar Ilan University, Safed, Israel

Galilee Medical Center, Nahariya, Israel

on one hand provides us valuable prognostic information but on the other hand represents a problematic technique, because it is invasive, costly, and not available in all centers. Several alternative noninvasive techniques have been proposed to assess portal hypertension, including serum biomarkers and imaging techniques. Various serum molecules have been investigated for their ability to predict the presence of portal hypertension, some of which have showed to either correlate with the hepatic venous pressure gradient or predict clinically significant portal hypertension. This chapter will focus on the potential role of multiple serum markers of portal hypertension that could be clinically applied to predict the presence of clinically significant portal hypertension, to stratify patients with respect to the severity of portal hypertension, to predict lethal complications such as variceal bleeding, and to monitor disease progression or treatment response without exposing patients to the risks of repeated invasive assessment.

#### **Keywords**

Apelin • Asymmetric dimethylarginine • Child-Pugh score • Cholestasis • Cirrhosis • Dimethylargininedimethylaminohydrolase-1 (DDAH-1) • Endothelial dysfunction • Esophageal varices • Fibrotest • Hepatic encephalopathy

# **Key Facts of Portal Hypertension**

The key facts of portal hypertension including the function of liver, blood supply of liver, the pathogenesis of cirrhosis associated portal hypertension, causes of portal hypertension, and principles of treatment are listed below:

- The liver is a vital organ that has numerous functions in the human body, including metabolism of lipids, carbohydrates, amino acids and serum proteins; hormone production; production of bile, which is necessary for digestion; and detoxification.
- The liver receives a dual blood supply from the portal vein and hepatic arteries. The portal system includes all veins that carry blood from the abdominal part of the alimentary tract, the spleen, pancreas, and gallbladder.
- Chronic liver disease is characterized by damage and regeneration of liver parenchyma leading to liver fibrosis and cirrhosis
- Liver cirrhosis is characterized by two pathologic conditions: the first is loss of function of the liver, and the second is increased resistance to portal flow and elevation of the pressure in the portal system.
- The increased resistance to portal flow is either mechanical due to the disturbed architecture and nodularity of cirrhosis or dynamic due to dysfunction of the endothelium and reduced bioavailability of nitric oxide (NO).
- This increased pressure in the portal vein may lead to the development of large, swollen veins (varices) within the esophagus, stomach, rectum, or umbilical area. Varices can rupture and bleed, resulting in potentially life-threatening complications.

- Causes of portal hypertension other than cirrhosis include suprahepatic causes, such as thrombosis of inferior vena cava or hepatic vein and cardiac diseases (constrictive pericarditis for example), and infrahepatic causes such as portal vein thrombosis.
- The treatment of portal hypertension is mainly supportive and consists of managing portal hypertension related complications, and the only way to fully cure portal hypertension is liver transplantation

#### **Definitions of Words and Terms**

Hepatorenal syndrome

(HRS)

Ascites A term that describes the accumulation of more than

25 ml of fluid in the peritoneal cavity.

Cholestasis A condition that describes an impaired bile formation

and flow. The causes are classified as intrahepatic, in which there is a secretory defect of the hepatocytes and cholangiocytes, and extrahepatic characterized by

obstruction of bile ducts.

Cirrhosis An abnormal condition of liver characterized by devel-

opment of scar tissue that replaces normal liver tissue leading to decreased in hepatocellular mass, and thus decreased liver function, and an alteration of blood flow with an increased pressure in the blood vessels

that supplies the liver.

Endothelial dysfunction A pathologic state of the function of endothelium, the

cellular inner lining of blood vessels, in which its ability to regulate the vascular tone is decreased.

Esophageal varices (EV) Varices are abnormally dilated blood vessels, usually

veins. In patients with cirrhosis, an elevation in blood pressure in the portal vein leads to the formation of varices in multiple sites in the abdomen, but the most

important is the lower third of esophagus.

Extracellular matrix ECM is the noncellular component present within all tissues and organs, composed of proteins and poly-

tissues and organs, composed of proteins and polysaccharides that are secreted locally, and their function is to provide support, segregate tissues from one

another, and regulate intercellular communication.

Hepatic encephalopathy A syndrome observed in patients with liver cirrhosis, (HE) characterized by personality changes, intellectual

impairment, and a depressed level of consciousness.

HRS is a syndrome of progressive kidney injury seen in patients with liver cirrhosis and portal hypertension

and associated with high risk of motality.

Insulin resistance A condition in which the insulin, a hormone that

regulates carbohydrate and lipid metabolism, has a

decreased activity on its receptors in insulin-sensitive tissues such as liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissues. The Model for End-stage MELD is a scoring system for assessing the severity of Liver Disease (MELD) chronic liver disease. The score uses a patient's laboratory values for serum bilirubin, serum creatinine, and the international normalized ratio (INR) for prothrombin time to predict 3-month survival. Spontaneous bacterial SBP is an acute bacterial infection of ascitic fluid that peritonitis (SBP) complicates patients with liver cirrhosis, diagnosed when the peritoneal fluid contains excess of neutrophils of more than 250 cells per mm<sup>3</sup>. SBP is associated with high rate of mortality. Thrombopoietin (TPO) TPO is a hormone produced by liver, and its function is

# Introduction

Development of clinically significant portal hypertension (CSPH) is a major cornerstone in the natural history of any chronic liver disease (CLD) regardless of the etiologic cause of CLD, and it is associated with clinical decompensation and development of portal hypertension (PTH)-related complications. Portal hypertension is defined as a pathological increase in portal venous pressure between the portal vein and the inferior vena cava to higher than the normal range (≤5 mmHg).

to stimulate platelet production by bone marrow.

The clinical manifestations of portal hypertension include ascites, gastroesophageal varices, hepatic encephalopathy (HE), variceal bleeding, spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP), infections other than SBP, and hepato-renal syndrome (HRS). The occurrence of these complications reflects the severity of portal hypertension and substantially worsens the prognosis of cirrhosis.

Patients with cirrhosis are considered high risk if they experience any episode of decompensation associated with high mortality risk such as variceal bleeding, refractory ascites, SBP, HRS, hyponatremia, and HE. The role of a prognostic marker, at this stage, is to help in identifying, among patients with decompensation, those at the highest mortality risk in order to implement more aggressive therapeutic strategies.

One of the most accurate methods for determining portal venous pressure involves the catheterization of the hepatic vein and the measurement of the hepatic venous pressure gradient (HVPG) defined as the difference between the wedged or occluded hepatic venous pressure and the free hepatic venous pressure (Lebrec et al. 1997) and if measured precisely, has a very low variability. Portal hypertension is considered moderate when the HVPG ranges from 5 to 10 mmHg and severe when the HVPG is greater than 10 mmHg. HVPG correlates with both structural and functional changes that occur in cirrhosis, and it carries valuable prognostic information to stratify the mortality risk. CSPH is established when HVPG is > 10 mmHg, and at this value the

patient usually develops of PTH-related complications, while if HVPG is > 12 mmHg, the risk of variceal bleeding increases (Bosch et al. 2009). Some meta-analyses have demonstrated that a reduction of HVPG to < 12 mmHg or more than 20% of baseline significantly reduces the risk of bleeding (Feu et al. 1995; Merkel et al. 2000; Bureau et al. 2002), whereas HVPG values equal to or below 8 mmHg are expected to control refractory ascites (Sanyal et al. 2003). Several studies demonstrated that HVPG has an independent predictive value on mortality in decompensated patients (D'Amico et al. 2006). Ripoll et al. (2005) in a series of 393 patients, mostly with previous decompensation, showed that the HVPG, independently of the model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score, had an overall effect of 3% increase of mortality for each 1 mmHg of HVPG increase.

Despite its excellent diagnostic and prognostic value, the use of HVPG in clinical practice is limited due to several factors such as the invasiveness of the procedure, availability only in specialized centers, and excessive costs (Merkel and Montagnese 2011).

Acute variceal bleeding is the complication of advanced cirrhosis with the highest mortality reduction achieved in the last decades, from 40%-50% to 10%-20% (Chalasani et al. 2003). In acute variceal bleeding, an HVPG  $\geq 20$  mmHg identifies patients at high risk of early rebleeding and bleeding-related mortality (Moitinho et al. 1999). Upper Gastrointestinal tract endoscopy is the gold-standard technique for identifying esophageal and gastric varices and is essential for the endoscopic management of variceal hemorrhage (Garcia-Tsao et al. 2007). There is consensus that it is mandatory to screen for EV by endoscopy when the diagnosis of cirrhosis is established, and the endoscopy should be repeated at 2–3 years interval in patients without varices. However, this approach has some limitations, as endscopy is an invasive procedure; the cost-effectiveness is questionable because only 9–36% of patients with cirrhosis found to have varices on screening endoscopy.

Currently, there is no established noninvasive test that can predict portal pressure among patients with chronic liver disease, and the ability to predict portal pressure with a simple blood test would revolutionize clinical management of patients with chronic liver disease.

Serum biomarkers of portal hypertension can be classified to parameters that reflect liver function, markers related to complications of portal hypertension, markers related to the pathogenesis of portal hypertension, and models combining multiple parameters.

#### **Markers Related to Liver Function**

Liver functions tests can be classified into parameters related to cell lysis or inflammation (AST and ALT), parameters of cholestasis ( $\gamma$ GT and bilirubin), and parameters that reflect hepatocyte synthetic function (PT-INR, albumin). These parameters are surrogates of inflammation and steatosis, which have a significant predictive value for the progression of fibrosis (Gordon et al. 2005).

Child-Pugh score and its objective component (albumin, bilirubin, INR) correlate with HVPG (Braillon et al. 1986; Gluud et al. 1988; Stanley et al. 1998) and correlate with the prevalence and grade of esophageal varices in cirrhotic patients. Interestingly, this correlation is observed also in patients with compensated cirrhosis (Berzigotti et al. 2008), suggesting that a close relationship exists between the structural changes which give onset to portal hypertension and hepatocellular dysfunction. Another model obtained by the combination of biochemical parameters, namely, albumin, ALT, and INR, had an area under the curve (AUROC) of 0.952 in the prediction of CSPH (Berzigotti et al. 2008).

# **Markers Related to Complications of Portal Hypertension**

#### **Platelet Count**

Thrombocytopenia, defined as platelet counts <150,000/ $\mu$ L, is a common complication in patients with chronic liver disease (CLD), reported in as many as 76% of cirrhotic patients (Giannini 2006). The major mechanisms for thrombocytopenia in liver cirrhosis include the portal hypertension related hypersplenism leading to platelet sequestration in the spleen and the decreased production of platelets in the bone marrow due to decreased production of thrombopoietin in the liver. The degree of thrombocytopenia also correlates with the extent of chronic hepatic injury. Studies have shown that platelet count is one of the factors that reflect the degree of liver fibrosis or the severity of liver cirrhosis (Wai et al. 2003, 2006). Studies have also showed a correlation between platelet count and HVPG and that thrombocytopenia can predict the presence of esophageal varices. One study showed that it was approximately five times more likely for large esophageal varices or gastric varices to be present if the platelet count was <88,000 and the negative predictive value for large esophageal varices was 92% (Zaman et al. 1999).

## The Aspartate Aminotransferase/Platelet Ratio Index (APRI)

The APRI, calculated as AST (U/L)/ upper limit of normal  $\times$  100/platelet count (109/L), was first introduced by Wai et al. in 2003 as a simple noninvasive tool for the diagnosis of significant fibrosis and cirrhosis of various etiologies (Shin et al. 2007, 2008; Forestier et al. 2010). Subsequently many studies have shown the APRI correlates with HVPG, and an APRI of  $\geq$  1.09 had a sensitivity 66%, specificity 73%, positive predictive value 85%, negative predictive value 47%, and diagnostic accuracy 68% for predicting HVPG >12 mmHg.

#### **Serum Ascites Albumin Gradient (SAAG)**

SAAG, which was first proposed by Hoefs et al. in 1981 (Hoefs 1983), is calculated by subtracting the ascites albumin concentration from the serum albumin concentration. The SAAG has replaced total ascetic protein in evaluating the causal mechanism of ascites, because studies have shown that a high SAAG (≥1.1 g/dL) predicts portal hypertension with accuracy rate of 97% and sensitivity of 100% (Table 1).

Table 1 Serum biomarkers for evaluating portal hypertension. This table represents a simple classification of blood test that can be used as serum biomarkers of portal hypertension, and it lists four groups of markers, which are widely discussed within the article body

Markers related to liver function
Markers related to cell lysis or inflammation
Markers of cholestasis
Markers that reflect hepatocyte synthetic function
Markers related to complications of portal hypertension
Parameters that represent hypersplenism
Parameters defining the cause of ascites
Markers related to the pathogenesis of portal hypertension
Markers of endothelial function
Parameters that assess hepatic fibrosis
Markers of inflammation
Metabolic markers
Markers that represents models combining multiple parameters

# Markers Related to the Pathogenesis of Portal Hypertension

#### **Markers of Endothelial Function**

Endothelial dysfunction is a major determinant of the increased intrahepatic vascular tone observed in cirrhosis, and a number of markers reflecting this dysfunction have been identified.

Von Willebrand factor antigen (VWF-Ag) is a large adhesive protein released by activated endothelial cells and therefore represents an indicator of endothelial cell activation (Van Mourik et al. 1999), and it is used as a surrogate marker of endothelial dysfunction (Lavi et al. 2008). Endothelial dysfunction is an early key event in many vascular diseases and is considered a major determinant of the increased hepatic vascular tone of cirrhotic liver (Iwakiri and Groszmann 2007). Levels of VWF are increased in patients with cirrhosis and correlate with the grade of fibrosis and the severity of liver disease (Lisman et al. 2002). Studies have shown that VWF-Ag level correlated with HVPG and high levels of VWF-Ag is associated with CSPH, the presence of esophageal varices, and increased risk of mortality (La Mura et al. 2011; Ferlitsch et al. 2012). The AUC for the detection of CSPH using a VWF-Ag cut-off value of ≥ 241% is 0.85.

Recently, the VITRO Score (the Von Willebrand factor-Ag/thrombocyte ratio) was introduced as a marker of cirrhosis and portal hypertension (Hametner et al. 2016). The VITRO score was significantly higher in patients with CSPH compared to patients with HVPG <10 mmHG (median 3.21 versus 1.29; <0.0001), it was also higher in patients with esophageal varices (P < 0.0001) and ascites (P < 0.014). The diagnostic accuracy of the VITRO score for detecting CSPH shows an AUC of 0.86 (CI 0.81–0.91) with a sensitivity of 80% and a specificity of 70% at a cut-off >1.58. The correlation between CSPH and the VITRO score was independent of Child-Pugh score. This score should be validated in further studies.

Nitric oxide (NO) is an essential regulator of intrahepatic vascular tone. In cirrhosis, the hepatic NO levels are significantly reduced, with associated

elevated sinusoidal vascular resistance (Iwakiri et al. 2008). NO synthesis by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) can be inhibited by the competitive endogenous inhibitor asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA). ADMA is metabolized in the liver, thus impaired liver function is associated with increased plasma levels of ADMA. Lluch and coworkers showed that peripheral blood levels of ADMA correlated with the degree of liver failure and decompensation in patients with alcohol-related cirrhosis (Lluch et al. 2004). In a further study involving patients with compensated chronic hepatitis C cirrhosis, a positive statistically significant correlation was found between HVPG and ADMA (Vizzutti et al. 2007).

Recently, a study using animal model of cirrhosis and portal hypertension demonstrated that Dimethylargininedimethylaminohydrolase-1 (DDAH-1), which is the key enzyme metabolizing hepatic ADMA, is a specific molecular target for portal pressure reduction, through actions on ADMA-mediated regulation of eNOS activity (Mookerjee et al. 2015).

Further studies are needed to define ADMA metabolism and function in Portal hypertension and its ability to predict CSPH.

Apelin is an endogenous ligand for angiotensin-like receptor 1, and it is distributed across numerous organs, including the brain, liver, heart, spleen, kidney, and lung. In several preclinical studies with cirrhotic animal model, serum levels of apelin (s-apelin) showed close relationships with both intrahepatic fibrosis and splanchnic hemodynamics. Its clinical utility as a biomarker of portal hypertension and prognosis was recently investigated (Lim et al. 2016). s-apelin had a direct correlation with the degree of hepatic fibrosis and it also showed a significant linear correlation with HVPG (R2 = 0.356, P < 0.001). The diagnostic ability of s-apelin for CSPH was also better than traditional prognosis marker Child-Pugh score and MELD score.

## **Markers of Hepatic Fibrosis**

In advanced stages of fibrosis, the liver contains around six to eight times more extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins than the normal liver (Schuppan et al. 2001; Weiler-Normann et al. 2007). ECM mainly consists of types I, III, and IV collagen, fibronectin, laminin, hyaluronan, elastin, undulin, and proteoglycan (Gressner and Weiskirchen 2006; Baranova et al. 2011; Bataller and Brenner 2005). The proteins are found in the blood and their level correlate with the development of hepatic fibrosis. These proteins were also studied as markers for predicting severe PHT. Serum laminin levels were shown to significantly correlate with HVPG values in patients with hepatic fibrosis and in patients with cirrhosis (Gressner et al. 1986). However, the prediction of severe portal hypertension or esophageal varices by laminin levels was poor with a positive predictive value of 85% and a negative predictive value of 43% (Mal et al. 1988; Kondo et al. 1995).

Serum hyaluronic acid concentrations also showed correlation with HVPG (Kropf et al. 1991), but as with laminin, its clinical application is limited because of low predictive value for the presence of severe PHT and EVs.

Another type of fibrosis marker was introduced, and it was called Fibrotest (Kropf et al. 1991). This marker is actually a panel of biochemical markers of hepatic fibrosis, and it combines the following five serum markers, all independently related to fibrosis as well as age and gender: alpha2-macroglobulin, haptoglobin, gamma glutamyl transferase (GGT), total bilirubin, and apolipoprotein A1. One study (Thabut et al. 2007) has shown that there is significant correlation between FibroTest values and HVPG values, but this correlation was weaker in patients with cirrhosis. Although the FibroTest value was significantly higher in patients with severe portal hypertension, the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve for the diagnosis of severe portal hypertension was only 0.79. Other studies are needed to evaluate the ability of Fibrotest to predict severe PHT, especially in patients with non-decompensated cirrhosis.

One study investigated the potential of other ECM proteins for detection of PHT (Leeming et al. 2013). The markers measured were C1M (type I-collagen), C3M and PRO-C3 (type III collagen), C4M and P4NP 7S (type IV collagen), C5M (type V collagen), C6M (type VI collagen), BGM (biglycan), ELM (elastin), CRPM (CRP). All ECM markers except for CRPM correlated significantly with HVPG. The combination of PRO-C3, C6M, and ELM provided better description of PHT, and a model combining the MELD Score with PRO-C3 and ELM provided odds ratios of >100 for having clinical significant PHT.

# **Inflammatory Biomarkers**

The rationale for screening inflammatory serum biomarkers of portal hypertension is based on the fact that portal hypertension is pathogenically related to liver injury and fibrosis and that in turn these are associated with the activation of inflammatory pathways (Chojkier 1998; Picchiotti et al. 1994). One study found that the novel inflammatory biomarkers IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-1R $\alpha$ , Fas-R, VCAM-1, TNF $\beta$ , and HSP-70 significantly correlated with HVPG in compensated cirrhosis (Buck et al. 2014). By using multivariate logistic regression analysis and the composite test of TGF $\beta$ ; HSP-70; status of at risk of alcohol use; and Child class B, HVPG > 12 mmHg could be exclude with 86% accuracy and with the sensitivity of 87.01%.

CD163 is a macrophage lineage-specific haemoglobin-haptoglobin scavenger receptor and a specific marker for macrophage activation (Schaer et al. 2005). The serum concentrations of the soluble form of CD163 (sCD163) are elevated during conditions of macrophage activation and proliferation. Elevated circulating sCD163 has been demonstrated in viral hepatitis, acute liver failure, and cirrhosis (Moller et al. 2007; Hiraoka et al. 2005; Holland-Fischer et al. 2011). One study have showed a positive correlations between sCD163 and HVPG, and the HVPG rose steeply to an asymptote of 22 mmHg with sCD163 up to about 5 mg/L and not to higher values with higher sCD163 (Grønbaek et al. 2012). sCD163 > 3.95 mg/L (upper normal limit) predicted HVPG ≥10 mmHg with a positive predictive value of 0.99.

#### **Metabolic Parameters**

Obesity and metabolic abnormalities have been identified as an independent predictor of clinical decompensation in patients with compensated cirrhosis of various etiologies (Berzigotti et al. 2011). One study investigated the relationship between metabolic variables, especially insulin resistance (IR) and adipocytokines, and portal hypertension in patients with cirrhosis (Eslam et al. 2013). The IR was measured by the homeostatic model for the assessment of IR (HOMA-IR), which is calculated by multiplying fasting plasma insulin by fasting plasma glucose, then dividing by the constant 22.5. The study showed that insulin resistance (IR) and serum levels of adiponectin, an adipocyte-derived hormone, significantly correlated with HVPG, and both parameters independently predict the presence of esophageal varices, with an odds ratio of 2.01 for high HOMA-IR score and 1.97 for high adiponectin levels. The HOMA-IR also predicted variceal bleeding, patients with HOMA < 4 had a significantly higher probability of having free survival of risk of variceal bleeding than patient with HOMA > 4 (97% vs 67..4%. P = 0.001).

# Potential Applications of Serum Biomarkers of Portal Hypertension to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions

For many decades, studies have been done to identify serum biomarkers that can predict the existence of portal hypertension in patients with chronic liver disease. The measurement of the HVPG is the gold-standard technique for the evaluation of PHT in liver disease. In patients with cirrhosis, HVPG measurements provide independent prognostic information on survival and the risk of decompensation and complications. Variceal bleeding is the most feared complication of portal hypertension. The appearance of varices in patients with compensated cirrhosis is associated with an increased risk of death (1.0%–3.4% per year), and the occurrence of variceal bleed significantly increases this risk, with 1-year mortality rate as high as 57%. Approximately 20% of deaths occur in the first 6 weeks of a bleeding episode (D'Amico et al. 2006). It is of most importance to do bleeding risk stratification in patients with cirrhosis. Risk factors for variceal bleeding include morphologic characteristics of varices viewed via esophagogastroduodenoscopy (large varices, red wale markings), cirrhosis severity determined by Child-Turcotte-Pugh scoring (Class B or C), and elevated HVPG. Primary prophylaxis of esophageal varices is recommended for patients at high risk for bleeding. The prophylactic options include pharmacologic agents, especially nonselective b-adrenergic blockers, such as propranolol and nadolol, and the endoscopic prophylactic intervention variceal band ligation, and both options are effective in reducing the risk of bleeding. B-blockers have been shown to significantly reduce portal pressure, as measured by HVPG, significantly reduce the risk of a first bleeding episode, and significantly reduce mortality (D'Amico et al. 1999). HVPG has been used to evaluate the hemodynamic response to b-blockers. An HVPG reduction to less than 12 mmHg essentially eliminates the risk of bleeding and improves survival (Groszmann et al. 1990).

It is recommended to perform screening endoscopy at 2–3 years interval in patients without varices and at 1–2 years interval in patients with small varices to evaluate the development and/or progression of varices (DeFranchis 2000). It was estimated that 100 screening endoscopy needs to be performed to prevent 1–2 cases of variceal bleeding (Boyer 1997).

Identification of biomarkers of portal hypertension and esophageal varices will allow upper gastrointestinal tract endoscopy to be carried out only in selected group of patients thus avoid unnecessary intervention and at the same time not to miss patients at risk of bleeding (Sarwar et al. 2004). Any surrogate biomarker of HVPG is a future candidate to be a method used for monitoring response to pharmacologic prophylaxis, either primary or secondary, without doing invasive procedures such as endoscopy and catheterization of the hepatic vein.

# Summary

- Portal hypertension is responsible for the fatal complications of cirrhosis such as variceal bleeding.
- The most accurate method for evaluating the presence and severity of portal hypertension is the measurement of the hepatic venous pressure gradient.
- It is invasive, costly, and not available in all centers. Several alternative noninvasive techniques have been proposed to assess portal hypertension, including serum molecules (biomarkers) and imaging techniques.
- This chapter focused on the potential role of multiple serum markers of portal
  hypertension that could be clinically applied to predict the presence of clinically
  significant portal hypertension, to stratify patients with respect to the severity of
  portal hypertension, to predict lethal complications such as variceal bleeding, and
  to monitor disease progression or treatment response without exposing patients to
  the risks of repeated invasive assessment.

#### References

Baranova A, Lal P, Birerdinc A, Younossi ZM. Non-invasive markers for hepatic fibrosis. BMC Gastroenterol. 2011;11:91.

Bataller R, Brenner DA. Liver fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2005;115:209–18.

Berzigotti A, Gilabert R, et al. Noninvasive prediction of clinically significant portal hypertension and esophageal varices in patients with compensated liver cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103(5):1159–67.

Berzigotti A, Garcia-Tsao G, et al. Obesity is an independent risk factor for clinical decompensation in patients with cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2011;54(2):555–61.

Bosch J, Abraldes JG, Berzigotti A, García-Pagan JC. The clinical use of HVPG measurements in chronic liver disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;6:573–82.

Boyer T. Natural history of portal hypertension. Clin liver dis. 1997;1:31–44.

Braillon A, Cales P, et al. Influence of the degree of liver failure on systemic and splanchnic haemodynamics and on response to propranolol in patients with cirrhosis. Gut. 1986;27(10): 1204–9.

Buck M, Garcia-Tsao G, et al. Novel inflammatory biomarkers of portal pressure in compensated cirrhosis patients. Hepatology. 2014;59(3):1052–9.

- Bureau C, Péron JM, Alric L, Morales J, Sanchez J, Barange K, et al. A la carte treatment of portal hypertension: adapting medical therapy to hemodynamic response for the prevention of bleeding. Hepatology. 2002;36:1361–6.
- Chalasani N, Kahi C, Francois F, Pinto A, Marathe A, Bini EJ, Pandya P, Sitaraman S, Shen J. Improved patient survival after acute variceal bleeding: a multicenter, cohort study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98:653–9.
- Chojkier M. Regulation of collagen gene expression. In: Strain A, Diehl A, editors. Liver growth and repair. London: Chapman & Hall; 1998. p. 430–50.
- D'Amico G, Pagliaro L, Bosch J. Pharmacological treatment of portal hypertension: an evidence-based approach. Semin Liver Dis. 1999;19(4):475–505.
- D'Amico G, Garcia-Tsao G, Pagliaro L. Natural history and prognostic indicators of survival in cirrhosis: a systematic review of 118 studies. J Hepatol. 2006;44(1):217–31.
- DeFranchis R. Updating consensus in portal hypertension: report of the Baveno III consensus workshop on definitions, methodology and therapeutic strategies in portal hypertension. J Hepatol. 2000;33:846–52.
- Eslam M, Ampuero J, et al. Predicting portal hypertension and variceal bleeding using non-invasive measurements of metabolic variables. Ann Hepatol. 2013;12(4):588–98.
- Ferlitsch M, Reiberger T, et al. von Willebrand factor as new noninvasive predictor of portal hypertension, decompensation and mortality in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2012;56(4):1439–47.
- Feu F, García-Pagán JC, Bosch J, Luca A, Terés J, Escorsell A, et al. Relation between portal pressure response to pharmacotherapy and risk of recurrent variceal haemorrhage in patients with cirrhosis. Lancet. 1995;346:1056–9.
- Forestier J, Dumortier J, Guillaud O, et al. Noninvasive diagnosis and prognosis of liver cirrhosis: a comparison of biological scores, elastometry, and metabolic liver function tests. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;22:532–40.
- Garcia-Tsao G, Sanyal AJ, et al. Prevention and management of gastroesophageal varices and variceal hemorrhage in cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102(9):2086–102.
- Giannini EG. Review article: thrombocytopenia in chronic liver disease and pharmacologic treatment options. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;23(8):1055–65.
- Gluud C, Henriksen J, Nielsen G, et al. Prognostic indicators in alcoholic cirrhotic men. Hepatology. 1988;8(2):222-7.
- Gordon A, McLean CA, et al. Hepatic steatosis in chronic hepatitis B and C: predictors, distribution and effect on fibrosis. J Hepatol. 2005;43(1):38–44.
- Gressner AM, Weiskirchen R. Modern pathogenetic concepts of liver fibrosis suggest stellate cells and TGF-beta as major players and therapeutic targets. J Cell Mol Med. 2006;10:76–99.
- Gressner AM, Tittor W, Negwer A, Pick-Kober KH. Serum concentration of laminin and aminoterminal propeptide of type III procollagen in relation to the portal venous pressure of fibrotic liver diseases. Clin Chim Acta. 1986:161:249–58.
- Grønbaek H, Sandahl TD, et al. Soluble CD163, a marker of Kupffer cell activation, is related to portal hypertension in patients with liver cirrhosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;36(2): 173–80.
- Groszmann RJ, Bosch J, Grace ND, et al. Hemodynamic events in a prospective randomized trial of propranolol versus placebo in the prevention of a first variceal hemorrhage. Gastroenterology. 1990;99(5):1401–7.
- Hametner S, Ferlitsch A, et al. The VITRO Score (Von Willebrand Factor Antigen/Thrombocyte Ratio) as a new marker for clinically significant portal hypertension in comparison to other nonInvasive parameters of fibrosis including ELF test. PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0149230.
- Hiraoka A, Horiike N, Akbar SM, Michitaka K, Matsuyama T, Onji M. Expression of CD163 in the liver of patients with viral hepatitis. Pathol Res Pract. 2005;201:379–84.

- Hoefs JC. Serum protein concentration and portal pressure determine the ascitic fluid protein concentration in patients with chronic liver disease. J Lab Clin Med. 1983;102:260–73.
- Holland-Fischer P, Gronbaek H, Sandahl TD, et al. Kupffer cells are activated in cirrhotic portal hypertension and not normalised by TIPS. Gut. 2011;60:1389–93.
- Iwakiri Y, Groszmann RJ. Vascular endothelial dysfunction in cirrhosis. J Hepatol. 2007;46(5): 927–34.
- Iwakiri Y, Grisham M, Shah V. Vascular biology and pathobiology of the liver: report of a single-topic symposium. Hepatology. 2008;47:1754–63.
- Kondo M, Miszputen SJ, Leite-Mor MM, Parise ER. The predictive value of serum laminin for the risk of variceal bleeding related to portal pressure levels. Hepatogastroenterology. 1995;42:542–5.
- Kropf J, Gressner AM, Tittor W. Logistic-regression model for assessing portal hypertension by measuring hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan) and laminin in serum. Clin Chem. 1991;37:30–5.
- La Mura V, Reverter JC, Flores-Arroyo A, Raffa S, Reverter E, Seijo S, et al. Von Willebrand factor levels predict clinical outcome in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. Gut. 2011; 60(8):1133–8.
- Lavi S, Yang EH, Prasad A, et al. The interaction between coronary endothelial dysfunction, local oxidative stress, and endogenous nitric oxide in humans. Hypertension. 2008;51:127–33.
- Lebrec D, Sogni P, Vilgrain V. Evaluation of patients with portal hypertension. Clin Gastroenterol. 1997;11:221–41.
- Leeming DJ, Karsdal MA, et al. Novel serological neo-epitope markers of extracellular matrix proteins for the detection of portal hypertension. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2013;38(9):1086–96.
- Lim YL, Choi E, et al. Clinical implications of the serum apelin level on portal hypertension and prognosis of liver cirrhosis. Gut Liver. 2016;10(1):109–16.
- Lisman T, Leebeek FW, de Groot PG. Haemostatic abnormalities in patients with liver disease. J Hepatol. 2002;37:280–7.
- Lluch P, Torondel B, Medina P, et al. Plasma concentrations of nitric oxide and asymmetric dimethylarginine in human alcoholic cirrhosis. J Hepatol. 2004;41(1):55–9.
- Mal F, Hartmann DJ, Trinchet JC, Lacombe F, Ville G, Beaugrand M. Serum laminin and portal pressure in alcoholic cirrhosis. A study of 39 patients. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 1988;12:841–4.
- Merkel C, Montagnese S. Should we routinely measure portal pressure in patients with cirrhosis, using hepatic venous pressure gradient (HVPG) as guidance for prophylaxis and treatment of bleeding and re-bleeding? Yes! Eur J Intern Med. 2011;22:1–4.
- Merkel C, Bolognesi M, Sacerdoti D, Bombonato G, Bellini B, Bighin R, et al. The hemodynamic response to medical treatment of portal hypertension as a predictor of clinical effectiveness in the primary prophylaxis of variceal bleeding in cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2000;32:930–4.
- Moitinho E, Escorsell A, Bandi JC, Salmerón JM, García-Pagán JC, Rodés J, Bosch J. Prognostic value of early measurements of portal pressure in acute variceal bleeding. Gastroenterology. 1999;117:626–31.
- Moller HJ, Gronback H, Schiodt FV, et al. Soluble CD163 from activated macrophages predicts mortality in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2007;47:671–6.
- Mookerjee RP, Mehta G, et al. Hepatic dimethylarginine-dimethylaminohydrolase1 is reduced in cirrhosis and is a target for therapy in portal hypertension. J Hepatol. 2015;62(2):325–31.
- Picchiotti R, Mingazzini PL, Scucchi L, Bressan M, Di Stefano D, Donnetti M, et al. Correlations between sinusoidal pressure and liver morphology in cirrhosis. J Hepatol. 1994;20:364–9.
- Ripoll C, Bañares R, Rincón D, Catalina MV, Lo Iacono O, Salcedo M, Clemente G, Núñez O, Matilla A, Molinero LM. Influence of hepatic venous pressure gradient on the prediction of survival of patients with cirrhosis in the MELD era. Hepatology. 2005;42:793–801.
- Sanyal AJ, Genning C, Reddy KR, Wong F, Kowdley KV, Benner K, et al. The North American study for the treatment of refractory ascites. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:634–41.
- Sarwar S, Khan AA, et al. Non-endoscopic prediction of esophageal varices in cirrhosis. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2004;15(9):528–31.

Schaer DJ, Schleiffenbaum B, Kurrer M, et al. Soluble hemoglobin-haptoglobin scavenger receptor CD163 as a lineagespecific marker in the reactive hemophagocytic syndrome. Eur J Haematol. 2005;74:6–10.

- Schuppan D, Ruehl M, Somasundaram R, Hahn EG. Matrix as a modulator of hepatic fibrogenesis. Semin Liver Dis. 2001;21:351–72.
- Shin WG, Park SH, Jun S-Y, et al. Simple tests to predict hepatic fibrosis in nonalcoholic chronic liver diseases. Gut Liver. 2007;1:145–50.
- Shin WG, Park SH, Jang MK, et al. Aspartate aminotransferase to platelet ratio index (APRI) can predict liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B. Dig Liver Dis. 2008;40:267–74.
- Stanley AJ, Robinson I, et al. Haemodynamic parameters predicting variceal haemorrhage and survival in alcoholic cirrhosis. QJM. 1998;91(1):19–25.
- Thabut D, Imbert-Bismut F, et al. Relationship between the Fibrotest and portal hypertension in patients with liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;26(3):359–68.
- Van Mourik JA, Boertjes R, Huisveld IA, et al. von Willebrand factor propeptide in vascular disorders: a tool to distinguish between acute and chronic endothelial cell perturbation. Blood. 1999;94:179–85.
- Vizzutti F, Romanelli RG, Arena U, et al. ADMA correlates with portal pressure in patients with compensated cirrhosis. Eur J Clin Invest. 2007;37(6):509–15.
- Wai C-T, Greenson JK, Fontana RJ, et al. A simple noninvasive index can predict both significant fibrosis and cirrhosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology. 2003;38:518–26.
- Wai CT, Cheng CL, Wee A, et al. Non-invasive models for predicting histology in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Liver Int. 2006;26:666–72.
- Weiler-Normann C, Herkel J, Lohse AW. Mouse models of liver fibrosis. Z Gastroenterol. 2007;45;43–50.
- Zaman A, Hapke R, Flora K, Rosen HR, Benner K. Factors predicting the presence of esophageal or gastric varices in patients with advanced liver disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94(11): 3292–6.